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IN THE PREDAWN DARKNESS on the cold morning of March 6, 1836, the defenders of the Alamo died, but in their last stand they achieved a certain immortality. Today, millions of people visit the place where Travis, Bowie, Crockett, and the others perished. Most of the visitors stand silent, or shuffle about slowly and quietly, as if for once in their lives they are on ground commensurate to their reverence. Other visitors wander about with looks of scorn, sure that there is nothing sacred or even noble about the Alamo shrine. For all the visitors, the Alamo is both history and memory, as alive today as it was in the nineteenth century. Many historians have considered what happened at the Alamo, but few have explored the changing meaning of the battle. As a result, the story of what happened, why it happened, what it has meant, and what it still means has been left to an assortment of guides, politicians, television executives, and movie producers. More than 150 years after the storming of the Alamo, the two most important interpreters of the event are Walt Disney and John Wayne.


Perhaps this is not as strange as it seems. The history of the Alamo fits neatly into William Faulkner’s notion of the past. “The past is never dead,” the novelist wrote. “It’s not even the past.” He understood that history is contested territory. At the Alamo, the siege and battle served as a prelude to other fights and other battles, fought by preservers of our national culture and interpreters of our shared past. They continue to wrestle with the meaning of the Alamo and the objectives of its defenders. Were Travis, Bowie, Crockett, and the men who died with them patriots making a last stand for freedom and liberty? Or were the “heroes” of the Alamo merely a collection of greedy capitalists, men on the make, backwoods bullies, would-be statesmen, and washed-up politicians? Did they fight to win freedom or to preserve slavery?


In order to present the Alamo in the fullness and richness it deserves, we have opted for a broad canvas. The first half of A Line in the Sand sets the siege and battle of the Alamo in the context of a clash between two cultures and two political forces. Although in reality it was never as simple as Anglo-American versus Hispanic-American, many Texans of the time believed it was, and though their rhetoric appears extreme to us today, they believed what they said. It was a confusing time, and the defenders of the Alamo were in a more baffling position than most. Behind the walls of the Alamo, they knew very little about the events taking place on the outside. They were uncertain about the debate over independence and completely in the dark concerning the plans of Sam Houston and other military leaders. Nor did they have a much better understanding of the personality of General Antonio López de Santa Anna and the objectives of the government in Mexico City. They were, in a deadly sense, alone. They sent out contradictory messages; they received equally contradictory communications; they moved blindly and planned in the dark. And in the dark, a physical and metaphorical darkness, they died.


The second half of A Line in the Sand examines how Americans gave and continue to give meaning to the event. The battle cry of Texans during the battle of San Jacinto, and later the Mexican-American War, “Remember the Alamo,” raises crucial cultural questions: How do we remember? What do we remember? Who governs our memory of historical events? The battle over memory has been as vibrant in its own way as the real battle, with a cast of characters equally committed to a cause. Presidents, filmmakers, preservationists, cultural critics, and a wild search for just how Davy Crockett died animate the second half of the book. In the end, the quest for the meaning of the Alamo has merged with the struggle to ascribe a meaning for America itself.


In the process of writing A Line in the Sand, we accumulated a number of debts, not the least of which are owed to such distinguished historians as Stephen L. Hardin, James Crisp, Alwyn Barr, Gregg Cantrell, Paul Lack, Paul Andrew Hutton, and William C. (Jack) Davis, and such Alamo specialists as Bill Groneman and Thomas Ricks Lindley, whose collective work on the revolution has given Texas and Texans a historiography as rich as any state in the country. We are especially thankful for the generosity of Jack Davis, who freely shared with us the research notes he collected in writing Three Roads to the Alamo, and Paul Hutton, who gave us access to his personal collection of Alamo memorabilia. To those scholars who read all or portions of the manuscript—Stephen L. Hardin, Gregg Cantrell, Kevin Young, John Payne, Ty Cashion, and Carolina Castillo-Crimm—we express our sincere gratitude. We should also acknowledge the financial support of the Center for Humanistic Studies at Purdue University, and Sam Houston State University.


On the personal side, our editor Bruce Nichols was a partner in this project from the beginning. He went beyond his duties as an editor, and sometimes even beyond his duties as a friend, and we will always appreciate his suggestions, intellectual generosity, and patience. Randy Roberts especially thanks his daughters, Kelly and Alison Roberts, and his wife Marjorie, for keeping the Alamo in perspective. Jim Olson extends the same appreciation to his wife and best friend Judy, who enjoyed the trips to San Antonio, tolerated the re-enactments in Brackettsville, and endured hearing more about the Alamo than she ever wanted to know.


Archivists and librarians at the University of Texas at Austin, the Institute for Texan Cultures in San Antonio, the Daughters of the Republic of Texas Library in San Antonio, and the Newton Gresham Library at Sam Houston State University helped us at every stage of the project. We are particularly grateful for the assistance of Paul Culp at Sam Houston State University, and Martha Utterback, Jeannette Phinney, Linda Edwards, Charles Gámez, Dora Guerra, Sally Koch, and Nancy Skokan of the DRT Library. Mark Jaeger and Cory Toole—our research assistants—saved us immense amounts of time in collecting and assembling our research materials.


Randy Roberts


James S. Olson








From amidst them forth he pass’d,
Long way through hostile scorn, which he sustain’d
Superior, nor violence fear’d aught;
And with retorted scorn his back he turn’d
On those proud Tow’rs to swift destruction doom’d.


JOHN MILTON


The past is never dead. It’s not even the past.


WILLIAM FAULKNER


History is an unstable pattern of remembered things.


CARL BECKER


It is important to avoid partiality if one wants to be believed. Be very careful because it is very difficult to be a historian.


JOSÉ ENRIQUE DE LA PEÑA
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PROLOGUE
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The morning of March 3, 1836, dawned cold and clear, a cloudless sky frigid in the aftermath of a Texas blue norther. James Butler Bonham stirred up and got under way early, racing west as fast as he could go. Time was precious. Several hours later, he reined in his sweat-lathered white horse and pulled up short, probably cresting on Powder House Hill, with San Antonio de Béxar stretching out before him. Horse and rider were exhausted after several days of travel, often at breakneck speed, from Goliad, where Bonham had tried to hustle troops and supplies for the Alamo. Heavy brush and mesquite trees offered some cover as he surveyed the landscape below. Mexican soldiers by the thousands, dressed in white fatigue suits, busied themselves with breakfast and morning duty. The defenders were still holding out, but in the days since Bonham had left Béxar, the Mexicans had tightened the noose; their lines, trenches, and earthworks now crowded much closer to the Alamo, just out of range of the Kentucky long rifles. It must have been a chilling sight, one that suited the day—so many Mexicans and so few defenders.


On his way to Béxar, Bonham may very well have encountered Texans heading the other direction. Ever since February 23, when General Antonio López de Santa Anna and the Mexican army had pulled into town, Anglos and Tejanos had fled Béxar like prairie dogs escaping rising water. They would almost certainly have updated Bonham, warning him that the Alamo was doomed, that the defenders stood no chance, that the red flag of “no quarter” still fluttered above the enemy encampment, that Santa Anna seemed determined to deliver on his dark promise. Perhaps they urged Bonham to turn his mount around and join them in a run for the Anglo-friendly coast.


In the days since Bonham had left Béxar, the situation inside the Alamo had changed dramatically. Jim Bowie lay sick in his room, dying; most of the Tejanos and a few Anglos had left the fortress, but dozens more Anglo Texans had arrived, carrying little more than guns and a few rounds of ammunition. Some had come to fight for freedom, others for land, and still others for the grand adventure of it all. Commanding this disparate force was Colonel William Barret Travis, aloof, a bit cold, but passionately committed to his cause. Few Texas politicians fully comprehended the plight of the Alamo’s defenders. They didn’t know that the men were running short of food and good water, that their ranks were wracked with dysentery and disease, that they had spent sleepless nights listening to the sound of Mexican artillery. Nor did Texas politicians realize how committed they were to the doomed defense of the ramshackle mission. Bonham probably sensed the hopelessness involved when he saw the ring of Mexican troops surrounding the Alamo. But if he did, it didn’t alter his resolve.


Bonham was not about to turn back. He was a bearer of good tidings that Thursday morning and owned a monopoly on hope, the Alamo’s shortest commodity. In his pocket, Bonham carried a letter from “Three-Legged Willie” Williamson, written on March 1, promising the defenders that help was on the way. Sixty Gonzales Volunteers would arrive soon, he promised, and “Colonel Fannin with 300 men and four pieces of artillery has been on the march toward Béxar three days now.” Another three hundred volunteers were about to assemble in San Felipe. “For God’s sake,” Williamson told Travis, “hold out until we can assist you.”1


Even empty-handed, Bonham would not have shunned a fight. The twenty-nine-year-old was a long way from home, light-years, it must have seemed, from the river bottoms of South Carolina’s Edgefield district. Locked between the Blue Ridge Mountains and the Atlantic, Edgefield produced cotton, tobacco, and men with attitudes. In the late eighteenth century, the region had witnessed terrible massacres involving settlers and Cherokee Indians; it had seen outlaw gangs run wild in an orgy of rape, murder, torture, and theft; it had watched vigilante Regulators restore order with the cruel hand of an Old Testament God. In the decades following the American Revolution, Edgefield became a physical and emotional wasteland. A returning minister commented that “all was desolation” and society itself “seems to be at an end…. Robberies and murders are often committed on the public roads. The people that remain have been peeled, pillaged, and plundered…. A dark melancholy gloom appears everywhere, and the morals of the people are almost entirely extirpated.”2


Violence was not something that Edgefield’s leading citizens boasted about, but a prickly sense of honor was a source of pride. Poorer white Edgefielders were quick to settle disputes with rough-and-tumble gouging matches, while their social betters used pistols and swords. Blood and kinship ran deep. They lived by a strict code that placed a premium on respect. It was quite simple, really: respect my wife, respect my family, respect my word, or else. South Carolina was one of the most violent states in the United States, and Edgefield was the most violent section of South Carolina. Santa Anna’s menu of terror contained little that Jim Bonham had not already tasted. Growing up in Edgefield had inoculated him against fear. And anyway, his distant cousin William B. Travis, another Edgefield man, happened to be in command of the Alamo. Dying at a brother’s side was infinitely preferable to living with the memory of abandoned kinfolk.


But Jim Bonham was no reckless fool either. Well educated and well read, he must have listened to the travelers, rehearsed the contents of Three-Legged Willie’s letter, and calculated the risks. The Mexican army, several thousand strong, had swarmed over Béxar, and even with a few hundred reinforcements, the odds for survival—once Mexicans came over the Alamo’s walls—were perilously short. Surrounded and outnumbered ten to one, the defenders would not prevail. But if Willie was right, if six hundred or so volunteers were on the way, and if Santa Anna procrastinated the final assault, the odds might improve quickly. Terrible “if’s,” to be sure, but like a true Edgefield man, Bonham was never faint of heart. His world harbored no lost causes. Back in 1827 the trustees of South Carolina College had expelled him after he led a protest march over poor food at the college boardinghouse. The whole senior class went out with him. A few years later, while practicing law in Pendleton, South Carolina, he caned a lawyer who insulted one of his clients. When a local judge ordered an apology, Bonham threatened him too, earning a jail sentence for contempt. And in 1832, with South Carolina bordering on secession during the nullification crisis, Bonham showed up in Charleston brandishing sword and side arm, damning Andrew Jackson and his Yankee cohorts in Washington, D.C. At Texas’s beckoning, Bonham acted on impulse, as Edgefielders so often did, arriving in November 1835 and offering his services to Sam Houston “without conditions. I shall receive nothing, either in the form of service pay, or lands, or rations.”3


Bonham might have been less worried about getting into the Alamo than getting out once the battle commenced. In some ways, what Santa Anna had erected was more sieve than siege; couriers came and went, it seemed, at will, and thirty-two volunteers from Gonzales had breached the Mexican lines and entered the Alamo on March 1. On almost any night up to the early morning hours of March 6, 1836, the defenders could have made a run for it, and some would probably have succeeded. The Texans inside the walls were there because they chose to be, not because they had to be. They were not demigods, just men, products of their times. Like many others, they had troubled marriages, financial problems, and legal difficulties. Like George Washington, Thomas Jefferson, and Andrew Jackson, they promoted equality and individual rights in the same breath that they defended slavery, without feeling a twinge of hypocrisy. And like most Americans, they were willing, sometimes even anxious, to make money at the expense of others.


But now and again, common men rise to uncommon heights, getting caught up in the sweep of events, sometimes involuntarily, usually not, and discover a cause worth dying for. Bonham had found his; so had Davy Crockett, Travis, and Bowie, and such Tejano defenders of the Alamo as Juan Abamillo, Juan Antonio Badillo, and José Esparza: TEXAS. Sometime before 11 A.M., Bonham tied a white handkerchief to his hat so that it would blow in the wind, a sign to the defenders that he was one of them. Spurring the horse to a gallop, he leaned his body over the side of the mount and raced through the Mexican lines and past the sentries, dodging bullets to resounding cheers from inside the walls. The gates of the Alamo opened for Bonham, and seconds later, the doors of destiny closed behind him, trapping inside a band of brave men whose sacrifice and secrets would shape the destiny of Texas.4
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IN THE FOOTSTEPS OF HISTORY



ALWAYS GAMES. Life itself was a game of winners and losers, life and death. A game of glory or disgrace that only the most compulsive gamblers, the ones with still hands and icy nerves, played. And during the lulls between the biggest games, there were always the cocks. At least that was how Antonio López de Santa Anna approached life.


All his life, Santa Anna was drawn to the games. He loved to gamble on cockfights, though he generally preferred when the matches were fixed in his favor. And he was devoted to political gambles, though militarily he preferred fixed fights there as well. Soon he would face a bettor’s odds at the Alamo.


By 1835, at the age of forty-one, the gambling had begun to exact its toll. Not the heaviest—he still had both legs. But his handsomeness, his almost aquiline beauty, was fading. Though he was still tall and muscular, tropical diseases had yellowed his skin and he was adding weight. Small imperfections, really. His eyes, piercing and dark, could still strike terror if he chose, and his ability to dominate men, women, and even a nation seemed intact. He remained a hero for a romantic age. With his hair swept forward à la Napoleon and his air of recklessness, he was Byronic, a man destined to conquer worlds or perish in some act of self-destruction. As one historian commented, “He did not have a messiah complex. He skipped that level. He thought he was God.”1


But a peculiar type of “God” in fact, not so much the biblical God as a classical god, in whom heroism and audacity mixed naturally with laziness, licentiousness, and vanity. He wanted to conquer worlds but had no real interest in ruling them. He wanted to “save” Mexico but not administer his country. He saw his duty as sweeping out of the green paradise of Jalapa, performing some life-threatening, heroic act, then retiring back to his less than humble hacienda—a nineteenth-century Cincinnatus stripped of all notions of simplicity, a Mexican George Washington shorn of the need to be virtuous or to spend eight years as president. The sort of life Byron might have invented for himself.


But in retirement—or between conquests—he could never really relax. Farming or writing or any sort of contemplative pursuit held no attraction for him. Where was the excitement in watching something grow? Where was the thrill in putting sterile words on paper? So he gambled, especially at the famous cockfighting pit in San Agustín de las Cuevas, a village just south of Mexico City. At the Plaza de Gallos, Santa Anna was in his glory, placing bets, shouting encouragement, and watching the birds flash together in a blur of color. The ritual was unchanging. Every day during the festivals, seven sets of cocks, razors strapped to their legs, fought to the death while sharp-eyed brokers trolled the arena taking bets. Trainers tried to influence their cocks—pulling feathers to infuriate them, splashing water on their heads to refresh them, blowing breath into their beaks to revive them. After two or three rounds a fight would be over.2


Unlike the contest in the pit, Santa Anna’s game was rigged. A man named Guillermo Prieto left a description of Santa Anna at the cockfighting pit: “He was something to see at the fights, surrounded by the leading loan sharks of the city, taking the money of others, mingling with employees and even with junior officers. He borrowed money but did not repay it, was praised for contemptible tricks as if they were charming manners, and when it seemed that he was growing tired of the matches, the fair sex would grant him their smiles and join him in his antics.”3


Santa Anna possessed voracious appetites—for sex, power, and money, but most of all for adulation—and he dominated his country. He lusted for absolute power. A contemporary later said of him, “He lives in perpetual agitation, he gets carried away by an irresistible desire to acquire glory…. Defeat … maddens him.” Late in his life, recalling the ambitions of his youth, Santa Anna wrote, “How impatient I was to climb the stair of life! With the typical eagerness of youth, I wished to vault its steps two by two, four by four.” And in the end, his destiny became Mexico’s. “Providence willed my history to be the history of Mexico since 1821,” he later wrote.4


In the 1820s, when Santa Anna surfaced into political prominence, the United States and Mexico were, for all intents and purposes, equals on the world stage, possessing comparable landmasses, populations, natural resources, and seemingly, futures. Both countries had thrown off colonial powers. After the Mexican Constitution of 1824 was adopted, both had federalist, democratic systems. Mexico had even banned slavery, and despite a hierarchical society with built-in prejudices similar to those of the United States, Mexico might have had a better claim to living up to its ideals of freedom. Except that its political leaders were prone to conspiracies. Santa Anna became a small-time Napoleon. By the mid-1840s, Mexico would be eclipsed, severed in two, and relegated by its northern neighbor to the backwaters of world history. Santa Anna would bear much of the responsibility.


It was the season of blood in the early spring of 1835, and Santa Anna was heading for Zacatecas to draw even more. He awakened in the upstairs bedroom of a white-stuccoed mansion at El Encero, his hacienda twelve miles from Jalapa. Nestled high in the Sierra Madre Oriental, Jalapa’s cool, crisp air had for centuries lured the wealthy rulers of Mexico out from Vera Cruz’s disease-ridden, mosquito-infested lowlands. At 4,700 feet in elevation, balanced between the ocean and the high tablelands, Jalapa was, according to a Spanish traveler, “a piece of heaven let down to earth.” Its clean streets were lined with one- and two-story stone homes, each whitewashed, trimmed in red, blue, yellow, pink, or green, and topped with a slanted roof of red tiles. Local Indians insisted that “Jalapa is paradise.”5


Perhaps Santa Anna sat for a few moments on the second-story veranda, surveying through open arches an estate, including the El Encero and Manga de Clavo haciendas, that stretched beyond the horizon, nearly to the Gulf of Mexico, and included thousands of acres and tens of thousands of cattle and sheep. Orchards of bananas, oranges, figs, mangoes, olives, and coffee filled the eastern and northern horizons as far as the eye could see. To the south and west, snow-covered peaks seemed to go on forever, with 18,855-foot Citlaltépetl, or Mount Orizaba, presiding over them all. Santa Anna’s spectacular fortune was already a national scandal. Mexicans joked sarcastically that “God must open heaven every so often and shower Santa Anna with pesos. How else did he become so rich?” In front of El Encero, a cavalry troop hovered around the president’s carriage, the horses poised and ready to start. Another carriage housed his beloved fighting cocks. Santa Anna exited his hacienda, said his good-byes, then stepped aboard the carriage and ordered the driver to head west.6


Few men have spent so much of their lives fomenting or crushing rebellions. Santa Anna was a criollo (a Spaniard native to Mexico), born in Jalapa on February 21, 1794, to parents only recently immigrated from Spain. His pale complexion, high forehead, nose, and full head of dark hair testified to European origins—a mother’s ancestry in southern France, a father’s roots in northern Spain. Years later Frances Calderón de la Barca, the wife of a Spanish diplomat, described him as a “gentlemanly, good-looking, quietly-dressed, rather melancholy-looking person … [with] fine dark eyes, soft and penetrating, and an interesting expression on his face.” As a sixteen-year-old, Santa Anna joined the Spanish army, hoping with military exploits to earn a place for himself in a world dominated by gachupínes (natives of Spain).7


The young cadet soon found himself under the command of Colonel José Joaquín de Arredondo, a Spaniard who served first as governor of New Santander and from 1813 to 1821 as commandant general of the Eastern Interior Provinces of New Spain, which consisted of Texas, Nuevo León, Coahuila, and Santander (Tamaulipas). Arredondo was at first charged with putting down Chichimeca uprisings. Spaniards employed the term “Chichimecas” loosely, attaching it to various nomadic, warlike indigenous peoples in central and northern Mexico. Adept at bow-and-arrow warfare, the Chichimecas had battled Spaniards for centuries. During a fight near San Luis Potosí in 1811, a warrior drew first blood, shooting an arrow into Santa Anna’s left arm. The young soldier shrugged off the wound and kept on fighting, leading Arredondo to praise him as one “who had enough constancy to suffer the inconveniences of continuous marches, giving an example in his way to the troops, and demonstrating the most vivid desires to give credit to their great valor.” In February 1812, Santa Anna was promoted to second lieutenant, and six months later to first lieutenant.8


At some point he began to ache with ambition, a lust unburdened by ideology or philosophy. He lived for power and the personal pleasures it afforded. He exploited, used, abused, and killed those who stood between him and his desires, exhibiting little interest in the needs of others unless they could somehow be turned to his advantage. Years later, a contemporary described him as “a man who has within him some force always driving him to take action but since he has no fixed principles nor any organized code of public behavior, through his lack of understanding he always moves to extremes and comes to contradict himself.” Contradictions, about-faces, inconsistencies, and mood swings were as common in Santa Anna’s life as humidity in a Vera Cruz summer. On August 29, 1821, his duplicity first revealed itself when he accepted a promotion in the Spanish army to lieutenant colonel. Later in the day, when offered the rank of colonel in the rebel forces, he abruptly switched sides, declaring himself a Mexican, pledging eternal loyalty to rebel leader Agustín de Iturbide, and later telling his troops, “Let us hasten to proclaim the immortal Iturbide as emperor and offer ourselves as his most faithful defenders.”9


Santa Anna’s instincts eventually flowered into an uncanny gift for political intrigue. Calderón de la Barca once likened Mexican politics to “a game of chess, in which the kings, castles, knights, and bishops are making all the moves, while the pawns look on without taking part in the game.” Nobody played better than Santa Anna. Within eighteen months, he had turned on Iturbide, leading a rebellion that forced the emperor’s abdication. He later conspired with Vicente Guerrero to depose President Manuel Gómez Pedraza, and then intrigued yet again, helping incite a new rebellion that eventually put Guerrero in front of a firing squad. One year later, Santa Anna became a national hero when Spain tried to reconquer Mexico. In the blazing sun and sweltering heat of August 1829, the Spanish navy landed twenty-six hundred soldiers about forty miles south of Tampico. Actually, Spanish incompetence and Tampico’s legendary yellow-fever-bearing mosquitoes inflicted most of the damage, and the Spanish armada had immediately returned to Cuba, leaving the army trapped along the coast, with Santa Anna blocking the route to higher ground. He waited a month to attack, giving the deadly mosquitoes time to feast. Then he went on the offensive and eliminated what was left of the army. Spain surrendered, and within a matter of weeks, millions of Mexicans knew Santa Anna as the “Hero of Tampico,” the “Fearless Son of Mars,” the “Support of the People.”10


He finally reached the summit of power in 1833, becoming president after again negotiating the dark catacombs of Mexican politics. Anastasio Bustamante, whose government Santa Anna brought down in 1832, told Congress, “There is hardly a Mexican … who is ignorant of the dissembling and perfidious character of the chief of the insurgents [Santa Anna].” Beginning with his first inauguration, in 1833, Santa Anna would serve eleven times as president of Mexico, entering and exiting the political stage more often than a character in an Italian opera. Each time he sported a different ideological costume, masquerading as conservative or liberal, centralist or federalist, royalist or rebel, whatever political circumstances demanded. He was a complete enigma, and those who knew him best recalled his contradictions—a heart where kindness and viciousness, and forgiveness and revenge, coexisted peacefully, even comfortably, and a mind as capable of brilliance as it was of stupidity.11


Santa Anna seized power in a country whose early modern traditions were even more violent than colonial America’s. In March 1835, as he departed El Encero, he assumed as his own Mexico’s legacy of conquest. In the capital, he would assemble an army and then march north, rescue his country from traitors, and enshrine himself forever in the pantheon of Mexican heroes. The nearly four-hundred-mile journey from Jalapa to Mexico City, which traversed three mountain ranges and a desert, roughly followed the route taken 316 years before by Hernán Cortés. Drawn by rumors of fabulous Aztec riches, the Spanish conquistadors had marched eighty-three days getting to Tenochtitlán, in the Valley of Mexico. (Santa Anna did it in less than three weeks—but he did not have thousands of people to kill along the way; not yet at least.) The conquistadors attacked their foes to the traditional strains of the degüello—a medieval ballad played through centuries of wars with the Moors—whose haunting rhythms announced “no quarter” to the vanquished, only imminent “beheadings,” “throat slittings,” and “ruin.” It was an appropriate military anthem for Mexico.


As Cortés made his way to the interior, he encountered the Aztec taste for human sacrifice. In the past seven centuries, North America has witnessed three major episodes of military and cultural imperialism, the last of which assumed the title Manifest Destiny. The Aztecs brought about the first. In the thirteenth century, they began leaving mountain redoubts in northern Mexico for points south and soon overwhelmed indigenous peoples, creating a bloody empire of their own, taking land that was not theirs to take, plundering towns that were not theirs to plunder, and killing millions who did not deserve to be killed. An eighteenth-century Jesuit historian wrote that Aztec civilization “when the Spaniards discovered them greatly surpasse[d] that of the Spaniards themselves when they came to be known by the Greeks, the Romans, the Gauls, the Germans and the Bretons…. [Their] religion was very bloody and … their sacrifices cruel … but there is no nation in the world that has not sometimes sacrificed victims to the god they adored.” Convinced of their own superiority and invoking the names of their gods in justification, the Aztecs took what other peoples in Mexico were incapable of defending.12


Sometime in the mid-fifteenth century, Aztecs had accepted the efficacy of human sacrifice to appease the gods, secure military victories, and guarantee good harvests. Repeatedly in 1519, as Cortés and his followers made their way toward Tenochtitlán, they explored Indian temples reeking with the smell of death, walls dripping blood and floors slippery with body fluids and human entrails. In temple plazas, the Aztecs stacked victims’ skulls into macabre sculptures. Bernal Díaz del Castillo, who accompanied Cortés, remembered one plaza with the skulls “so neatly arranged that we could count them, and I reckoned them at more than a hundred thousand. I repeat that there were more than a hundred thousand.”13


Several points along Santa Anna’s fateful 1835 journey recalled the sanguinary fields of the past. Two weeks into his trip, he passed through Tlaxcala, eyes raised toward La Malinche, a 14,636-foot snow-covered peak named after Cortés’s Indian mistress and interpreter. There, in August 1519, Cortés had encountered a Tlaxcalan army of forty thousand troops. When his expedition of four hundred Spanish soldiers and several hundred Indian allies approached, the Tlaxcalans massed into groups and—armed with slings, bows, javelins, and two-handed obsidian-bladed clubs—hurtled themselves at the foreigners. The battle raged for a week, bloodying the Spaniards but taking a heavy toll on the Tlaxcalans. Díaz remembered that poor infantry tactics doomed the Tlaxcalans. “One thing saved our lives,” he later wrote, “and this was that they were many and massed such that the shots wrought havoc among them.” A fiercely independent people constantly at war with the Aztecs, the Tlaxcalans battled Cortés to a draw. When the Tlaxcalan chief proposed a Spanish-Tlaxcalan military alliance, Cortés readily agreed. As Díaz wrote, the Spaniards were worrying about “what would happen to us when we had to fight Moctezuma [and the Aztecs] if we were reduced to such straits by the Tlaxcalans.”14


Backed by thousands of Tlaxcalan warriors, Cortés had headed south for Cholula, a major religious center, home to four hundred temples and a hundred thousand people. A huge, 177-foot-high pyramid dedicated to the god Quetzalcóatl dominated the Cholulan skyline. When Santa Anna passed through Cholula in mid-April 1835, the pyramid looked more like an overgrown hill, topped by a Catholic church that Spaniards had erected to diminish Aztec glory, since Aztec theology held that someday the god Quetzalcóatl would return from the east in power and glory. More than a few Indians had wondered if Cortés might represent his reincarnation. But perhaps the Indians had not expected a god so bloodthirsty. On October 18, 1519, at the base of the pyramid, Cortés assembled Cholula’s elite, massacred three thousand people in two hours, and then turned Tlaxcalan warriors loose to plunder and kill for several days more. Eventually Cholula was littered with ten thousand corpses. A victorious Cortés then turned west for Tenochtitlán.


Cortés traversed the 12,000-foot-high pass that now bears his name, flanked by the legendary Popocatépetl and Iztaccíhuatl volcanoes, and then descended into the Valley of Mexico. Just as he passed over the shoulders of Popocatépetl, the volcano came alive after years of dormancy, sending plumes of smoke heavenward and convincing even more people that Cortés might indeed be Quetzalcóatl. But Cortés was no god; he brought power to the valley but no glory, only death and misery, commodities that Santa Anna trafficked in as well.


Like Cortés before him, Santa Anna descended into the Valley of Mexico, passing through pine forests to Amecameca, crossing the great lava flows to Tlalmanalco, and riding by Ayotzingo, Mixquic, Cuitlahuac, and Iztapalapa. When he reached Mexico City on April 18, 1835, throngs greeted him similar to those that had greeted Cortés. He enjoyed grand entrances—magnificent Arabian stallions, ornate carriages, honor guards, armed dragoons, formally dressed civil and military dignitaries, blaring bands, fireworks, cannonades, and cheering crowds. Just one year before, he had staged another grand entrance. On April 19, 1834, after hiding out at Manga de Clavo and testing the political winds, he had descended on the capital to dismantle the liberal, federalist constitution. Mexico was in trouble, suffering the aftershocks of its independence movement. Political instability had prompted a flight of capital. Gold and silver had flown the country, and without hard currency, the economy reverted to barter. Congress made a bad situation worse by minting worthless copper coins and triggering a hyperinflation that sent the economy into a steeper decline. Wages lagged woefully behind prices, food shortages appeared, crime skyrocketed, and the social fabric unraveled. One foreign visitor described the streets of Mexico City as “no longer worthy of the name; they are chasms, precipices and disgusting sewers. Its suburbs are heaps of ruin, horrific dung heaps, centers of corruption and disease…. Its most public thoroughfares are sites of scandal and indecency and there is a tavern, vice and prostitution on almost every street. Nowhere is safe from crime.”15


Chaos mocked revolutionary hope. For three centuries, the Catholic church and the Spanish monarchy had anchored Mexican society, producing a relatively fixed social order where most people understood their place. At the top were white Europeans, divided into Spanish-born gachupínes and Mexican-born criollos. By virtue of birth and the backing they received from Madrid and Rome, gachupínes controlled the colonial establishment. Criollos’ power, on the other hand, was rooted in land and commerce, and they resented the stranglehold gachupínes exercised over the government, the army, and the clergy. Beneath criollos seethed a large working class of mestizos, the offspring of Spanish and Indian parents. They resented the smug Spaniards who controlled political, social, and economic power. Finally, poverty-stricken Indians occupied the bottom rung of the social ladder. Criollos, mestizos, and Indians had little affection for one another, but together they loathed gachupín arrogance and in the 1810s had transformed resentment into revolution.


The rebel victory sent Spanish-born public officials, army officers, and priests scurrying back to Spain, leaving Mexico to the feuding revolutionaries. The criollos, with property and status to protect, desired a mere coup d’état, maintaining the old order, only with themselves at the top. Many mestizos, on the other hand, hoped to convert the rebellion against Spain into a genuine reform movement that would lead to universal male suffrage, individual civil liberties, and separation of church and state. A few even lobbied for breaking up large estates and giving the land to peasants and Indians.


Ethnic rivalries destabilized the periphery. To the north, across the borderlands frontier, Anglo-American settlers penetrated Texas, New Mexico, and California. Their political and economic compass pointed east, not south, and their patience with interference from Mexico City would soon prove startlingly shallow. And across Mexico’s southern tier, from Chiapas to the Yucatán, Mayan Indians kept a vigil of their own. Like a jigsaw puzzle being shaken by a child, Mexico was coming part. Revolts and revolutionaries were everywhere—in California and Texas in the north, in the Yucatán in the east, in Chiapas in the south, and everywhere in between.


Conservative elements of Mexican society—primarily criollo merchants, businessmen, army officers, clerics, and professionals—looked nostalgically to a past when, they believed, law and order prevailed, the moral code stood unchallenged, and the upper classes ruled without rivals. Unless change came soon, they predicted violence, anarchy, and national disintegration. Concerned criollos, or hombres de bien (“men of goodwill”) as they came to be known, blamed the Constitution of 1824. By extending near sovereignty to each state government, it had encouraged local autonomy, emasculated the central government, and sown the seeds of anarchy. Federalism, they concluded, could no longer hold Mexico together.16


Sensitive to shifts in the political wind, Santa Anna traded his liberal costume for a conservative uniform. Within weeks of his arrival in the capital on April 19, 1834, he had deposed Acting President Valentín Gómez Farías, dissolved Congress, launched a systematic purge of liberals, and denounced the 1824 Constitution. Specially arranged elections in the summer of 1834 produced a new legislature dominated by hombres de bien—Catholic priests, army officers, lawyers, large hacienda owners, and well-to-do businessmen, all of whom demanded the stability that Santa Anna somberly promised. Liberals knew exactly what was coming. “Caesar has crossed the Rubicon,” wrote a liberal editor in June 1834, “and has already proclaimed himself a tyrant.”17


Within a matter of months, Santa Anna had created centralized, dictatorial authority. All state governors henceforth would hold office only at the whim of the central government; all state legislatures would be replaced by five-man councils that advised the governor; and a uniform tax, civil, and criminal code would be imposed throughout the country. Congress then set its sights on the state militias, which regular army officers resented and conservatives viewed as symbols of state autonomy. Santa Anna’s followers accused the state militias of representing a “cruel servitude for the people, a focus of corruption and immorality and a harmful distraction for industrious people … [militias were] the worst plague of society.” A centralist newspaper likened state militias to “hirelings of the sansculottes … [who] install and remove governments at their whim, to take revenge on anybody they choose.” At the end of March 1835, Congress placed a ceiling on the size of state militias, limiting them to a maximum of one recruit for every five hundred citizens.18


The demise of the constitution and reduction of the militias aroused instant, bitter resentment throughout Mexico. Several states—including San Luis Potosí, Querétaro, Durango, Guanajuato, Michoacán, Yucatán, and Jalisco—expressed discontent, and outright rebellion erupted in Zacatecas and Texas. The local newspaper in Zacatecas accused Santa Anna of “conspiring to crush freedom in an immoral assault on federalism.” The Zacatecas legislature labeled the measure “an affront to Zacatecan sovereignty and an assault on our liberty” and on March 30, 1835, passed a resolution authorizing the governor to “use all of the State Militia to repel any aggression.”19


The Zacatecan militia was the largest in Mexico, with twenty thousand men on its muster rolls and four thousand armed, uniformed, and ready to serve. Santa Anna suspected that centralists would soon prevail politically in most states, but he decided to move quickly on Zacatecas, where he could not afford to lose control of valuable silver mines, and Texas, where Anglo settlers threatened to detach the region and hand it over to the United States. He vowed to crush the rebellion “with the most inflexible severity.”20


Command of the local militia fell on Francisco García, the governor of Zacatecas, who, unfortunately, had no military experience. Even with Santa Anna on the move, García made few preparations, except for placing some artillery along the ravines leading to Zacatecas, in case el presidente decided to invade the city. He also decided to establish a defensive perimeter on the east side of the town of Guadalupe, about four miles southeast of Zacatecas. García naively believed that the advantages of his position—a field of battle nearly one thousand meters in length, flanked by mountains on his left and a ravine to his right—would give the militia an advantage against Santa Anna’s regulars.21


Hundreds of miles to the north, Anglo Texans occupied common philosophical ground with the Zacatecans. Thousands of Anglos had crossed the Texas border; most were from Southern states. They identified as U.S. citizens, and to them Santa Anna’s orders evoked visceral passions dating back to the American Revolution, when British soldiers had occupied their cities and their homes. The “shot heard round the world” on April 19, 1775, which launched the war for independence, occurred after British regulars marched on Lexington and Concord to seize the weapons of the Massachusetts militia. Texans, like most U.S. Southerners and Westerners, took their firearms and their militias seriously. When Mexico’s Congress announced the demise of the state militias, one Texas rebel termed it “the last final blow at their liberties … [that lit] the flame of civil war; the civic militia had all times previously proven the sure and safe bulwark of the liberties of the People … to deliver up their arms, was to deliver themselves over to an aristocracy, whose object was plainly Monarchy.” The legislature of Coahuila y Texas similarly proclaimed that when “the Civic Militia are reduced … the only bulwark of liberty, and the right of the community are destroyed.”22


Santa Anna aimed to punish Zacatecas first and then to move to Texas. In 1546 Juan Tolosa and a small contingent of Spanish soldiers, Indian auxiliaries, and Franciscan friars had explored what would later become the city of Zacatecas, reaching a hump-shaped mountain decorated with green-streaked crests and sharp craggy outcroppings. He dubbed the mountain La Bufa—or Hog’s Bladder. At the sight of the Spaniards and their horses, the local Indians fled into La Bufa’s canyons and caves. But neighboring Chichimecas, some of whom had escaped slave labor in the Taxco silver mines, knew how to pacify the white men. In return for freedom, they showed Tolosa vast seams of silver coursing like frozen rivers through the Zacatecan mountains. The town of Zacatecas sprang up almost overnight as silver prospectors by the thousands threw up shanties in the twisting gullies and ravines. Whitewashed stone monuments, identifying mining claims, soon dotted the mountainsides. For the next three centuries, a river of silver flowed from Zacatecas. Santa Anna was not about to lose his grip on the mother lode.23


The expedition began on April 18, 1835, when Santa Anna left Mexico City for the northern frontier with three armies totaling more than four thousand soldados. Behind them trailed hundreds, perhaps even thousands, of soldaderas, or camp followers—prostitutes, cooks, and infantry wives and children too poor to survive at home while their husbands and fathers went to war—and government officials, teamsters, and supply contractors. The highway out of Mexico City to Querétaro retraced the route of the Calzada de Tepeyac, an Aztec highway that once crossed Lake Texcoco from Tenochtitlán to the mainland.


The Mexican population in 1835 had yet to recover to its pre-Cortés level. On Good Friday 1519, the day Cortés stepped ashore near what is today Vera Cruz, Mexico’s indigenous peoples had numbered in the tens of millions; by 1600, less than a million survived. Their brothers and sisters, fathers and mothers, grandfathers and grandmothers, uncles, aunts, and cousins had all succumbed to a Spanish arsenal of lances, harquebus muskets, cannons, crossbows, pikes, swords, horses, bacteria, and viruses. From the heart of New Spain in the Valley of Mexico, the Spaniards then radiated steadily outward, in increasingly wide concentric circles, killing and subduing the indigenous peoples in the jungles of Chiapas and Yucatán, the deserts of Sonora and Chihuahua, and the Sierra Madre Oriental and Sierra Madre Occidental. What Spain wrought in the sixteenth, seventeenth, and eighteenth centuries would be a forerunner of the Manifest Destiny Americans imposed in the nineteenth.24


In April 1835, as Santa Anna’s Army of Operations marched along the highway from Mexico City, urban sprawl gave way to the peaceful Bajío—vast fertile valleys punctuated by burnt brown mountains stretching toward the cities of Querétaro, Guanajuato, Morelia, and León. Although the word bajío means “lowland” in Spanish, the Bajío is actually a vast highland plain between 5,500 and 7,000 feet in altitude. Fertile soil rooted in volcanic ash had transformed the Bajío into Mexico’s breadbasket, and Spanish soldiers and settlers had driven the Chichimecas off the land. They then enslaved them to extract silver from the Bajío’s vast subterranean lodes. The rich land became the cradle of Mexican liberty. Towns and villages bear the names of revolutionary heroes—Miguel Hidalgo, Ignacio de Allende, Juan de Aldama, Mariano Jiménez, Agustín de Iturbide, and José María Morelos y Pavón. During the 1810s, Santa Anna had been involved directly or indirectly with all of them, serving with them or chasing them throughout the Bajío.25


On April 25, his army reached Guanajuato, down the road a few miles from Dolores, the birthplace of the Mexican Revolution. There, on September 15, 1810, four months after Santa Anna had joined the Spanish army, Miguel Hidalgo, a criollo priest turned revolutionary, set out to secure “restitution of the holy rights granted by God to the Mexicans, usurped by cruel, bastard, and unjust conquerors.” That morning, he sounded the church bell in Dolores, and before a crowd of Indians and mestizos announced—in what is remembered as the grito de Dolores—“Death to the Spaniards! Long live the Virgin of Guadalupe!” He hoisted a painted canvas of the Virgin of Guadalupe on a pole and marched around the town square, encouraging his followers, “Take! My children! Because everything is yours!” Poverty-stricken Indians and peasants, who had spent their lives suffering while Spaniards became rich, rallied by the tens of thousands, and within a matter of weeks Hidalgo’s revolution had engulfed central Mexico.


The revolt soon flamed out of control. In Guanajuato, as Hidalgo’s army massed on the outskirts, Spanish families fled to the protection of the Alhóndiga de Granaditas, a walled grain-storage compound. Hidalgo’s followers attacked and slaughtered every Spanish man. Those who surrendered were beaten and tortured before being executed. Spaniards died in the Alhóndiga as if (according to a contemporary Mexican historian) “history were taking an atrocious revenge for the massacres of the Indians by the conquistadores at Cholula and the great temple of Tenochtitlan.” The revolutionaries then spread out, hunting down Spaniards like animals, slitting their throats in tribal rituals to liberty, ransacking homes and businesses, raping women, stealing everything they could carry. Hidalgo opposed “any settlement which did not provide for the liberty of the nation and the rights which the God of nature granted to all men, rights that are truly inalienable, and they would be protected with rivers of blood if it becomes necessary.”26


Blood did flow, Hidalgo’s included. Full of vision but devoid of strategy, he self-destructed. With Spanish soldiers pursuing him, he fled the Bajío for safety in the northern deserts. But a contingent of Spanish soldiers captured him in Baján, just north of Monclova, where his revolutionary dreams turned quickly into a personal nightmare. Along with four coconspirators, Hidalgo spent three weeks in Monclova’s jail before Spanish officials transported him to Chihuahua for trial. In short order he was convicted and sentenced to death. On July 30, 1811, the defrocked priest, clutching a silk-embroidered image of the Virgin of Guadalupe, faced execution. No member of the firing squad wanted to be responsible for killing him, and after three lines of soldiers had fired, Hidalgo was still alive, though wounded in the legs, arms, feet, spine, shoulders, and abdomen. The commander then took two soldiers and ordered them to shoot point-blank into Hidalgo’s heart. As he gave the order to fire, Pedro Armendáriz remembered, “Hidalgo just stared straight at us with those beautiful eyes.” His coconspirators were executed as well. A headman then decapitated the corpses of Miguel Hidalgo, Ignacio de Allende, Juan de Aldama, and Mariano Jiménez, and the heads were transported to Guanajuato, impaled on spikes inside iron cages, and hung on the four corners of the Alhóndiga de Granaditas, site of Hidalgo’s bloodiest depredations. The cages remained in place for ten years, stark reminders of the perils of rebellion.27


For Santa Anna, the Bajío conjured violent memories. He had criss-crossed the region as a young cadet and learned, under the tutelage of José Arredondo, how to treat a defeated enemy. To teach others a lesson, prisoners of war needed to be tortured and sympathetic noncombatants punished. In the afterglow of victory, Arredondo often ordered his troops back through Chichimeca villages, where they “swept off all they found, confusing the peaceful inhabitants with fighting men.” They leveled villages, burned homes and granaries, assaulted women, horsewhipped boys, cut men’s throats, and shot livestock.28


Several years later, Santa Anna had returned to the Bajío to put down insurgent rebellions and Indian uprisings. He was now under the command of Agustín de Iturbide. There Santa Anna learned new lessons in the art of the degüello. According to one contemporary, Iturbide had few peers when it came to viciousness. “He left a trail of blood in his wake … [and was] harsh beyond measure with the Insurgents…. [He] sullied his victories with a thousand acts of cruelty.” Iturbide had a penchant for summarily executing prisoners of war and sympathetic civilians, usually denying them the last rites of the church so that their final moments would be especially torturous. To punish platoons and companies accused of dereliction or cowardice, he forced soldiers to draw lots to determine who would be executed. On one occasion, to send a message to potential insurgents, Iturbide targeted their wives, ordering that “one woman in every … three arrested at any distance from their disloyal fathers, husbands, or brothers, etc., should be beheaded without possibility of reprieve whenever the traitors committed specific outrages.”29


As Santa Anna passed through the Bajío, he was prepared to inflict similar punishments on Zacatecas and Texas. As with El Cid, Cortés, Montezuma, Arredondo, and Hidalgo, his sense of mission knew few limitations. He arrived in Aguascalientes on May 1, setting up his general headquarters in the Palacio de Gobierno, an elegant, two-story edifice built of dark red volcanic stone with a column-lined courtyard and stone staircases. The palace rested on the south side of the Plaza de la Patria, where Santa Anna paraded his army, giving local citizens a glimpse of his power. On another, more leisurely occasion, he might have spent a few weeks in Aguascalientes. At more than 6,000 feet in altitude, the city enjoyed near perfect weather, especially in the spring and summer; some of the best vineyards and wine cellars in Mexico; and hot springs known widely for their medicinal powers. But there was no time. On May 5, the Army of Operations moved on.30


Zacatecans had a reputation as an arrogant people—fiercely independent, resentful of authority, quick to anger, and slow to forgive. An old Mexican adage described them as “as proud as a stallion, as stubborn as a mule, and as ill-tempered as a rattlesnake.” They came by such traits honestly. Before Aztec warriors commenced their thirteenth-century migration to the Valley of Mexico, they sharpened spears in the mountains of Zacatecas, erecting small pyramids, sacrificing humans to invisible gods, carving telltale plumed serpents, and driving lesser tribes into the parched northern deserts. When the Aztecs departed, Chichimecas filled the vacuum, waging violent guerrilla campaigns against neighboring peoples and establishing their own reputation for stubborn ferocity.


A vibrant middle class contributed to Zacatecan independence. The silver mines had lured merchants, muleteers, miners, textile workers, lawyers, small landowners, doctors, and skilled craftsmen to Zacatecas, and with prosperity came the desire to control their own affairs. Liberalism had long thrived because property there had been more evenly divided and large haciendas were few and far between. In 1833 the Zacatecas governor had purchased large haciendas with public funds and then distributed the land to smaller property owners. Zacatecans became notoriously jealous of their privileges and resentful of outsiders—Spanish or Mexican—bent on limiting their opportunities.31


On May 9, Zacatecan scouts informed the governor that the Army of Operations had nearly reached Guadalupe, about four miles southeast of Zacatecas, and bivouacked in Tolosa. The news surprised nobody. In addition to thousands of soldiers and camp followers, Santa Anna’s army included oxen, cattle, horses, wagons, carts, and artillery pieces. The army kicked up clouds of dust that could be seen for miles.32


The Zacatecan troops not already at the front arose early on the morning of May 10, donning militia uniforms—rough sailcloth trousers and dark blue, red-collared tailcoats once used by regular army troops. Their bellies full of tortillas stuffed with beans and an extra portion of shredded beef, the part-time soldiers marched down Avenida Hidalgo and Avenida de la Independencia, smiling and joking, waving to crowds, acting as if they were heading for a fiesta. They collected downtown in front of the main church of Zacatecas, erected to honor Nuestra Señora de la Asunción, ready to pray for victory and to receive a priest’s blessing.


Morning shadows dappled the church’s ornate, three-story facade, giving life to the angels, saints, cherubs, and gargoyles sculptured into pink sandstone. A huge rose-colored window sparkled. Tangles of elaborately carved vines, grapes, fruit, shells, and feathers twisted their way around the stone pillars, and dominating the display was a figure representing God, attended by horn-playing angels. When the troops were properly blessed, the Zacatecans formed into columns, cast last looks at La Bufa, and set out for battle, while friends and neighbors tossed flowers and urged them on to victory for federalism and freedom.


The six-kilometer march took a few hours. Upon their arrival, García, the militia commander, rested his troops for an hour, letting them eat lunches that wives had prepared the night before. Knapsacks disgorged more beans, tortillas, beef, cheese, rice, and slivers of a Zacatecan delicacy—tuna en crepa, a semihard candy known as el dulce de Dios, “the candy of God.” But the wives knew to ration God’s candy. Queso de tuna is also a potent laxative, and men going into battle ate it sparingly. During lunch, the citizen soldiers relaxed and joked with one another. It looked more like a picnic than a war. García also installed snipers in the Guadalupe chapel, the local convent, and on the rooftops of dozens of houses.33


At 5 P.M., Santa Anna reconnoitered the Zacatecan position, observed García’s preparations, and decided quickly that he faced an amateur. Couriers from Santa Anna delivered a curt message to García, informing him that the Army of Operations intended to occupy the city of Zacatecas and giving the militia eight hours to surrender its weapons and disband. García stood firm, citing the Constitution of 1824 and the sovereignty it awarded the states of Mexico. His defiance irritated Santa Anna, who blamed the local politicians for the terror about to befall.


The Zacatecans were better armed than most militias; local taxes on silver had generated a steady revenue, and García had purchased a good supply of .753 caliber British India Pattern muskets, known as the Brown Bess, and British Baker .61 caliber rifles, the same weapons wielded by Santa Anna’s infantry and cavalry. Most of the militiamen actually carried more than one weapon into battle. They also had twelve pieces of artillery. On paper, the Zacatecans appeared to be a match for the Army of Operations. But war games, not wars, are fought on paper, and in the field the Zacatecans did not stand a chance. In the heat of battle, infantry troops must fire their weapons, cycle back to the rear to reload, and then return to the front line to fire again, all in coordinated lines. Reloading the Brown Bess took no less than nineteen separate maneuvers by soldiers moving back and forth in rank, often under fire. Managing such an intricate combat task required elaborate training, which Santa Anna knew how to administer, putting his men through round after round of repetitive, disciplined practice, boring them, frustrating them, and enraging them, but also preparing them for battle.34


Zacatecans, on the other hand, were a motley crew of businessmen, peasants, artisans, and farmers, men who worked every day and had little time for drill. They talked war, dreamed about war, and played war, but their lives had little to do with real war. And they were under the command of a man with only the foggiest notions of infantry tactics.


The field of battle radiated waves of brilliant colors, glistening hues of red, blue, yellow, and orange shimmering off fields of green. The rainy season had arrived early in 1835, and drizzles had germinated wildflower seeds. García positioned his militia in the open space, clustering his troops like bees on hives, buzzing with courage, patriotism, and dreams of glory, but possessing little sting. Moreover, the Zacatecans let down their guard, failed to send out scouts, and posted few sentries.


In a matter of hours, Santa Anna developed an operational strategy. He had no intention of taking heavy casualties; next year’s campaign against Texas would require full strength. He needed the tactical advantage of choosing when and where to fight, and he counted on militia inexperience to hand him an easy victory. After dark on May 10, Santa Anna set his trap. Scavengers collected cartloads of brush and scrap wood, and when the sun set, they ignited dozens of huge bonfires. Santa Anna left behind several hundred troops, ordering them to make noise—laughter, jokes, yelling, singing, dancing, and fighting—to convince Zacatecans, if any were listening, that the battle was likely to be postponed. Once the Zacatecan sentries fell asleep, the Mexican army moved out. To muffle the sound of wooden wheels scraping on wooden axles, teamsters applied extra portions of lard to the artillery mountings and wrapped wheels in blankets and animal skins. Quietly and slowly, teams of men towed the artillery pieces to the front. The Mexicans positioned cannon and cartloads of ammunition less than 150 yards from the slumbering Zacatecans.


Santa Anna’s attack plan was disarmingly simple. Several companies of regular infantry, armed with Brown Bess muskets and backed by fourteen artillery pieces, took up positions several hundred yards east and west of the Zacatecan encampment, with instructions, once artillery detonations sounded, to form into firing lines and attack the enemy’s left flank. Once enemy troops were within seventy yards—the range of their weapons—the foot soldiers would open fire. The general also assembled a special company of cazadores—infantry sharpshooters—armed with British Baker .61 caliber rifles and ordered them to operate independently, picking off Zacatecan soldiers from as far away as 250 yards. They were also to shoot down enemy horses and oxen, so that wounded troops could not be evacuated from the field, and to target Zacatecan artillery crews. Most militias, Santa Anna knew from experience, were notoriously undertrained, which made it unlikely that competent backup crews would replace fallen comrades. Well to the rear so that fidgety horses could not be heard, Santa Anna readied his cavalry, each man bearing a lance, a saber, and a short-barreled British Paget carbine. Once the battle commenced, with the infantry advancing in overlapping segments, General Juan José Andrade would race his cavalry up the Zacatecan right flank and attack from the rear. A reserve division under Santa Anna’s command would feint a frontal attack on the Zacatecan line.35


Tested on a dozen battlefields, Santa Anna’s men, though poorly equipped and grossly underpaid, understood the confusion of battle and knew that discipline won wars. At 7 A.M., the bugles sounded and the sleepy-eyed militia stumbled out from blankets and bedrolls, hastily donned uniforms, pulled on shoes, boots, or sandals, and grabbed their weapons. They fumbled with the muskets, trying to load and cursing the drizzling rain that had moistened their powder. Santa Anna bided his time. Canister and cannonballs plow through standing men much better than sleeping men. Once the militia firing lines shaped up, Santa Anna unleashed the artillery.


The first salvos struck panic into the Zacatecans. A round shot at close range can turn dozens of men into chunks of shattered flesh, while canister and grapeshot slice off arms, legs, fingers, hands, feet, and faces. Exploding bones become organic shrapnel to kill and maim on their own. The Mexican artillery cut the Zacatecans down, shredding their lines, turning courage into panic, and sprinkling the wildflowers with blood and body parts. Fallen men screamed and moaned in vain. Others walked about in a daze, already in shock, sporting bloody stumps or cradling their own intestines, waiting to bleed to death. The Zacatecan artillery crews got off a salvo or two of their own, but the cazadores cut them down one by one, silencing the enemy cannoneers. The cazadores also dropped Zacatecan horses and oxen, littering the battlefield with carcasses.


Then, to the sounds of the “Degüello,” Santa Anna ordered his infantry to advance. Dressed in blue coattee uniforms with red collars and red cuffs and loose-fitting blue or gray trousers, the foot soldiers marched forward in linear formation. The carefully orchestrated front lines fired and then methodically withdrew to the rear to prime and reload, while a new line of musketeers moved to the front. The Zacatecans returned fire, but in all the confusion, with so little training and so much wet powder, their best efforts proved hopelessly ineffectual; they downed a Mexican soldier here and there more by luck than by design. Concealed Zacatecan snipers brought down a few more. All the while, General Andrade maintained his ruse and kept the Zacatecan cavalry at bay.


Like a battering ram, Santa Anna’s foot soldiers pushed into the Zacatecan left flank, forcing the militiamen steadily toward the center. So much destruction, so fast. In ten minutes the Mexican column split the Zacatecans in two, driving the enemy far to the right, where more Mexican infantry, their muskets primed and loaded, awaited their turn. The doomed Zacatecans eventually broke ranks, dropped their weapons, and fled toward the Mexican blocking parties—exactly as Santa Anna had anticipated. Primed and waiting soldiers mowed down the terrified militia and sent survivors into a wholesale retreat back up the highway toward Zacatecas. By that time, the Mexican cavalry had turned the right flank and was descending down the Zacatecan road toward the fleeing militia. With the escape route sealed, the cavalry finished the job. Some troopers swept down on the battlefield, killing the wounded with well-aimed thrusts of the lance. The wildflowers had been trampled into a killing field.


Capricious as always, Santa Anna decided not to slaughter all the Zacatecans. Two hours into combat, he ordered a cease-fire. As the dust settled and the smoke cleared, the extent of his victory became clear. The Army of Operations counted only about one hundred dead, but the Zacatecan militia had been destroyed. Francisco García sent four thousand men into battle, and Santa Anna took 2,723 prisoners of war. Estimates of the Zacatecan casualities ranged as high as twelve hundred men. The panic-stricken militia had abandoned more than six thousand muskets on the field of battle, along with all twelve artillery pieces.36


But Santa Anna was not finished. He ordered the Army of Operations to advance on the city of Zacatecas, leaving behind the prisoners of war under armed guard. He was being cautious. The mountains, ravines, and canyons of Zacatecas were a paramilitary’s dream, and Santa Anna worried that García might be luring his troops into an ambush. He also feared hand-to-hand combat inside the city, which had been built along a series of gullies and ravines, with narrow streets and crowded buildings. But the Army of Operations encountered little resistance. News of the militia’s horrendous defeat reached Zacatecas well ahead of Santa Anna, and thousands of citizens fled for the countryside. His troops entered an eerily quiet city, which looked almost as if Zacatecans were busy begging God for mercy.


If God gave them mercy, Santa Anna did not. While the general made his way out to the silver mines of Fresnillo to augment his personal fortune, he left his troops behind, giving them forty-eight hours to plunder Zacatecas. For two full days, they ransacked homes and businesses, emptying jewelry and cash boxes, cleaning shelves of inventory, pilfering clothes from racks and closets, carting away shoes and furniture, stealing horses, and slaughtering pigs and cattle. The exercise turned into an orgy of destruction, with soldiers raping women, bludgeoning men, poisoning wells, and setting fires. They stuffed bags and suitcases and hauled the loot out of town to camp-following wives, children, and prostitutes, who were more than ready to enjoy the fruits of victory. Cavalry troops rode out to local farms and haciendas. Infantry regiments invaded the neighboring settlements of Parrés, Fresnillo, and Sombrerete. When Santa Anna finally called off his men in the evening of May 13, Zacatecas was a ghost town, its commercial infrastructure destroyed. The offices and printing presses of La Imprenta, the local newspaper, had been leveled, and the paper went out of print and would remain so for two years. Schools and the local market remained closed for months.37


The Zacatecas defeat and rampage that followed sent a clear message north to Texas. Not that it was needed; Santa Anna loathed Anglos, perhaps because to him their greed and arrogance matched his own, perhaps because they seemed so intent on raping Mexico. During the battle of Zacatecas and the subsequent sacking of the city, he ordered the summary execution of all North Americans. Anglo engineers had provided technical assistance to Zacatecan mine owners, Anglo accountants had offices in La Casa de Moneda—the city’s bank—and Anglo filibusterers had worked as military advisers to the Zacatecan militia. Santa Anna considered them all “pirates,” “brigands,” and “freebooters,” subject to draconian retribution. Mexican infantry went house to house and room to room, rousting out cowering gringos and killing them on the spot.38


Santa Anna lingered in Zacatecas for two weeks, establishing a military government under the command of General Joaquín Ramírez y Sesma. On June 13, in recognition of the new order of things, Ramírez y Sesma organized citywide festivities to celebrate his own birthday. By that time Santa Anna was touring Mexico in triumph. At the end of May, the city fathers of Aguascalientes hosted him with a parade and a series of parties. He then proceeded to Guadalajara, where special masses, parties, toasts, and huge fireworks displays greeted him. There he learned that at Anahuac, Texas, on June 20, insurgents upset about government attempts to collect customs duties had attacked and overrun a Mexican garrison. While the leading ladies of Guadalajara installed a fine silk mattress in a carriage so that he could travel comfortably, Santa Anna fumed and plotted revenge. The governor of Jalisco sponsored three days of celebrations, and in Morelia, honor guards welcomed Santa Anna with cannon salutes and the bishop opened the cathedral doors, sprinkled him with holy water, and blessed him. The general arrived back in Mexico City on July 21, 1835, where Congress had proclaimed him “Benemérito de la Patria,” or “Hero of the Fatherland.” Everywhere, he labored to create an elaborate cult of personality. Handbills and broadsides by the thousands proclaimed his virtues; streets, plazas, and parks were rededicated in his name; statues were erected in his honor; and his portrait was displayed ubiquitously. Only after nine days of parades, festivals, and receptions did he depart for Manga de Clavo to recuperate before dealing with Texas. What Santa Anna did not anticipate north of the Rio Grande, however, was an enemy as violent and determined as himself.39
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“THE FREE BORN SONS OF AMERICA”



LIKE THE HEROES OF THE SIR WALTER SCOTT novels he read so voraciously, William Barret Travis longed for fame and fortune, but mostly for fame. “He hungered and thirsted for fame,” remembered a friend, “not the kind of fame which satisfies the ambition of the duelist and desperado, but the exalted fame which crowns the doer of great deeds in a good cause.” Travis thought he had made the right moves. Well read and well educated, he had settled in Claiborne, Alabama, in 1828 and studied law under James Dellet, the county’s most successful attorney. He attended a Baptist church, supported the Claiborne Temperance Society, and joined a Masonic lodge. He accepted a commission in the local militia, opened a law office, and edited the Claiborne Herald. When he turned twenty-one, on August 1, 1830, he seemed destined to become a leading citizen.


But real success eluded him. The newspaper never turned a profit and drained what little income the law office generated. Debts piled up, and he found himself borrowing money to make partial payments, each time adding new obligations, alienating friends, and spoiling his reputation. Creditors hounded him and retained local attorneys, including James Dellet, to collect the delinquent notes. In March 1830, Travis found himself heading the county’s docket of deadbeats. And while legal difficulties emptied his pocketbook, marital troubles drained his emotional reserves. A marriage to Rosanna Cato had produced one son but little happiness, and the likelihood of a stint in debtors’ prison left him looking for a way out. “Never have I seen a more impressive instance of depression from debts,” a fellow attorney recalled. Desperate to find a new route to fame and fortune, Travis decided, like millions of other Americans, to migrate west. In April 1831, leaving a pregnant wife with empty promises, he rode out of Claiborne and crossed the Alabama River into Mississippi.1
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Travis fled for Texas just two years after Andrew Jackson had been sworn in as president. The so-called Jacksonian age, however, predated its namesake. America crackled with talk of individual rights, praising “equality” though defining it narrowly. Few American leaders would have included women, blacks, and Indians under democracy’s blanket, but their discussion of equality and rights nevertheless transcended the Revolutionary generation’s vision. During the 1770s and 1780s, when Americans spoke of rights, they had focused on such government abuses as the seizure of private property, double jeopardy, unreasonable searches and seizures, and cruel and unusual punishments. The framers of the Constitution did not consider voting rights a civil liberty. In 1800 less than half of white men owned enough property to vote.


By the early 1800s, however, Americans expanded their notion of individual rights to include the franchise. “We are the free born sons of America,” Andrew Jackson told his troops in 1812, “the only people on earth who possess rights, liberties, and property which they dare call their own.” White men of all classes demanded the right to vote, and their logic was compelling. Kentucky entered the Union in 1792. When a large landowner at the state constitutional convention suggested “limiting the vote to those with substantial interests to protect,” delegates shouted him down. Tennessee entered the Union in 1796 and Ohio in 1803, both with low property requirements. Between 1816 and 1821, Indiana, Maine, Illinois, Mississippi, Alabama, and Missouri entered the Union with no limits on white male suffrage.2


The civil rights movement then spread east. In 1807 New Jersey abolished property requirements for voting, and Maryland followed suit three years later. Connecticut amended the state constitution in 1818, as did Massachusetts and New York in 1821. By 1828 only three states—Virginia, Louisiana, and Rhode Island—still denied some white men the right to vote. Just over 250,000 men cast ballots in the election of 1824; four years later, the number jumped to more than 1.25 million. The trend continued. In the election of 1840, more than 78 percent of white men cast ballots. Never again would such a high percentage of eligible Americans take politics so seriously.


Political deference, in which the poor acquiesced to the wisdom of the well-to-do, died along with the aristocratic dress codes of the eighteenth century. Alexis de Tocqueville, the French traveler and writer, observed in 1830, “Equality, which makes men independent of one another, naturally gives them the habit and taste to follow nobody’s will but their own. This … independence makes them suspicious of all authority.” The absence of deference startled wealthy Europeans and Latin Americans. They complained about the lack of first-class accommodations in steamboats and railroads, about sharing rooms with “uncouth scoundrels” in roadside inns and eating family style with poor farmers and laborers in boardinghouses. They could not find servants to take care of them. Americans acknowledged free labor and slavery but nothing in between. The word “servant” fell into disuse. Those who cooked someone else’s food, washed someone else’s clothes, or tilled someone else’s land called themselves “hired help” but never “servants.”3


The conjunction of republicanism, equality, and reverence for majority rule produced a boundless confidence that seduced de Tocqueville, who predicted that “the time will therefore come, when one hundred and fifty millions of men will be living in [the United States]…. The rest is uncertain, but this is certain; and it is a fact new to the world,—a fact which the imagination strives in vain to grasp.” Mexico would become one more victim. “The province of Texas is still part of the Mexican dominions,” de Tocqueville wrote, “but it will soon contain no Mexicans; the same thing has occurred wherever the Anglo-Americans have come in contact with a people of a different origin.” William Barret Travis was part of that Anglo-American vanguard. Early in May 1831, he arrived at San Felipe de Austin in the Mexican state of Coahuila y Texas. Feeling debt free and family free, at least for all practical purposes, Travis resurrected his dream.4
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In 1821 the advance elements of two great civilizations collided at the Sabine River dividing Louisiana and Texas. The Spanish had marched first, and had intermarried with Indians since the time of Cortés. Texas mestizos traced their roots back 150 years, when their ancestors had left central Mexico and settled north of the Rio Grande. There they wiped out more than sixty tribes of indigenous peoples. The mestizo priests and soldiers who manned the missions and presidios carried the bacterial baggage of European civilization, and the natives fell to a variety of infectious diseases. Immunologically vulnerable and technologically deficient, the Indians, wrote one historian, “just seem to have faded away”—though it was not exactly a peaceful process. The empty land was steadily settled by Spanish-speaking immigrants, known later as “Tejanos.” Their Texas empire stretched northeast to the Sabine River, anchored by the Nuestra Señora de Guadalupe mission near Nacogdoches.5


After the American Revolution, Anglo settlers in the American South had pushed their frontier west, similarly disposing of indigenous peoples and behaving, as had Spaniards and mestizos, as if they enjoyed a divine right to the land. Kentucky came into the Union in 1792, Tennessee in 1796. By that time more than three hundred thousand Anglo-Americans had settled west of the Mississippi, and Spanish officials pondered how they could defend North America against such aggressive settlers. Illegal American settlers had penetrated the Spanish colonies of East Florida and West Florida, and in 1819 Spain had given up, surrendering the Floridas to the United States in return for American recognition of Spain’s sovereignty over Texas and the federal government’s assumption of $5 million of Spanish debts to American citizens. A deputy to the Spanish legislature saw history repeating itself and urged caution in letting foreigners into Texas because of the “great risk of dismemberment of that part of America in which Texas” was located. For Spain it was all soon a moot issue. Texas was lost anyway in 1821, when Mexico secured its independence.6


The collision at the Sabine was a gross mismatch. Although the United States and Mexico appeared equal on paper—two young nations, born in revolution, with bright futures—they could hardly have been more different. While the United States had enjoyed four decades of independence, Mexico was an infant republic. The American population was booming with new immigrants and a high birth rate; Mexico’s was shrinking after ten years of warfare. The U.S. economy was growing by leaps and bounds, while Mexico’s was in ruin.


Spain had tried, at the last moment of its Mexican empire, to develop Texas. Government officials hatched an ambitious scheme, naming the Connecticut-born Moses Austin an empresario, with the right to settle, or “colonize,” three hundred families along the Brazos River, in return for which he would receive handsome land grants and cash. Austin died in June 1821, soon after closing the deal, and his son, Stephen F. Austin, inherited the contract. The final expulsion of Spain from Mexico, in 1821, threw the scheme into turmoil, but when the Constitution of 1824 left states in charge of colonization, the empresario system became the official policy of the state of Coahuila y Texas. The immigrants had to be or become Roman Catholic and live on the land. Each family would receive 4,428 acres and would be exempt from taxes for ten years. Mexican citizenship came with settlement. In 1823 the colonists received a seven-year exemption from customs duties. During the next several years, the state legislature negotiated thirty empresario contracts.7


On paper, the empresario system appeared orderly and effective, but the term “orderly” would never characterize Texas. American settlers in a rush for land ignored the niceties of international boundaries, and for every Anglo family that settled legally in an empresario colony, many squatted illegally. Even the legal Anglo colonists posed a problem for Mexico, because almost all of them came from the United States. Practically speaking, Mexico was giving Texas away. The Sabine was as porous for illegal immigrants in the 1820s as the Rio Grande would be in the 1990s. In December 1821, the Mexican population of Texas amounted to roughly twenty-five hundred people. Within a decade, Anglos outnumbered Tejanos ten to one, a ratio that only continued to swell. “If, then, the condition of Texas is so prosperous,” complained Mexican official Juan Almonte, “what precludes Mexicans from enjoying its prosperity? Are they not the owners of those precious lands?”8


Several nagging differences quickly soured Anglo-Mexican relations. The United States had already earned Mexico’s distrust. During Mexico’s late colonial period, Spain endured no less than eight threatening incursions by American filibusterers bent on detaching Texas from the empire. Between 1791 and 1801, Philip Nolan staged four military expeditions. He was actually more interested in stealing horses from Indians and bringing them back across the Sabine for sale, but Spain nevertheless regarded him with considerable suspicion. On the fourth expedition, Nolan’s group included twenty-seven armed men. When Mexican troops caught up with him on March 21, 1801, they stopped him with a bullet to the head.9


General James Wilkinson, a former U.S. Army officer whom President Thomas Jefferson appointed governor of Louisiana, became involved in 1804 and 1805 with Aaron Burr’s schemes to invade Mexico, peel off a slice of Spanish territory, and establish a new nation west of the Mississippi. Actually, he was more than “involved” he was a clear-cut traitor, far more dedicated to treason than was Burr. Spain lodged vigorous diplomatic protests, and Jefferson removed Wilkinson as governor. But the controversy did not change Wilkinson’s obsession. He negotiated with Mexican authorities in the early 1820s but died before securing an empresario contract.10


In 1811 José Bernardo Gutiérrez de Lara visited Washington, D.C, hoping to rally support for Mexico’s rebellion against Spain. Gutiérrez secured nothing formal, but in Natchtitoches, Louisiana, he enlisted the backing of Augustus Magee and several hundred Anglo adventurers, and they invaded Texas in August 1812. During the course of the next year, the Magee-Gutiérrez expedition battled Spanish forces from Nacogdoches to La Bahía to San Antonio de Béxar. Magee died near La Bahía, and Spanish troops under General Joaquín de Arredondo drove Gutiérrez and his supporters back across the Sabine.11


In November 1816, Francisco Xavier Mina, a Spanish liberal dedicated to striking a blow against King Ferdinand XII by invading Mexico, secured financing from New York and New Orleans businessmen, and assembled an invasion force in Galveston. On April 7, 1816, he sailed into the Gulf of Mexico with eight ships and 235 men, en route for Soto la Marina in Tamaulipas. Mina’s troops landed on April 15 and headed inland, fighting several minor skirmishes with Spanish troops before being captured on October 27, 1816. Taken to Mexico City for trial, Mina was convicted of treason and executed, along with twenty-eight of his men.12


Finally, James Long, a merchant in Natchez, Mississippi, organized in 1819 a military expedition against Texas. Angry that the Adams-Onís Treaty of 1819 between Spain and the United States had recognized the Sabine as the international frontier and left Texas to Spain, Long raised enough money to launch an invasion of the disputed territory. In Nacogdoches in June 1819, he proclaimed Texas independence. Governor Antonio Martínez deployed five hundred troops to crush the rebellion, and they captured Long at La Bahía. He was sent under armed guard to Mexico City and conveniently murdered before trial.13


Although the United States denied backing the filibusterers, official policy grew steadily more menacing. Soon after arriving in Washington, D.C., in 1822 as Mexican minister to the United States, José Zozaya complained about the “haughtiness of these Republicans who see us not as equals but inferiors, and who think that Washington will become the capital of all the Americas…. They love dearly our money, not us, nor are they capable of entering into an alliance agreement except for their own profit.” The Americans, he went on, “ha[ve] no other object than that of fulfilling their ambitious designs on the province of Texas…. They will be our enemies.” As if to prove Zozaya correct, in 1826 President John Quincy Adams offered $1 million for Texas, and when the Mexicans refused, he pursued a series of heavy-handed diplomatic initiatives to change their minds. Four years later, President Andrew Jackson upped the ante to $5 million, never hiding his intentions to see the Stars and Stripes waving over Texas. Mexico had too much territory, far more than it could ever develop. Detaching Texas through purchase or bribery, he said, would not be too difficult, since “I scarcely ever knew a Spaniard who was not the slave of avarice.”14


With Mexican-American relations deteriorating, Anglo Texans grew increasingly restless. The independent government in Mexico City already considered them an impetuous and recalcitrant people. The Fredonian Rebellion of 1826 would prove the correctness of their view. In April 1825, Haden Edwards received an empresario grant allowing him to settle eight hundred families near Nacogdoches. He immediately offended earlier settlers by challenging their land titles, prompting Mexico to cancel his grant and send in troops from Béxar. On December 21, 1826, Edwards entered into open revolt, drafted a declaration of independence for the Republic of Fredonia, and appealed for U.S. military assistance. The revolt was stillborn and Edwards fled to Louisiana before the troops arrived, but the rebellion raised suspicions in Mexico City about the loyalty of other Anglo-Americans.15
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